

Great Southern Country Zone Minutes

Friday, 11 April 2025

Hosted by the Shire of Kojonup Kojonup Sporting Complex, Benn Parade, Kojonup

Contact WALGA Zone Secretariat:

Lyn Fogg
Zone Executive Officer

WALGA Governance Specialist

lfogg@walga.asn.au

08 9213 2042

Chantelle O'Brien
Governance Support Officer
cobrien@walga.asn.au
08 9213 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	ODE	NING	ATTENDANCE AND APOLOGIES	1
•	1.1	-	ing	
	1.1	•	dance	
			gies	
2	1.3	•	-	
2			EDGEMENT OF COUNTRY	
3			TIONS OF INTEREST	
4			ONS / GUEST SPEAKERS	
	4.1		pers of Parliament	
5	AGE		REPORTS	
	5.1		Southern Development Commission (GSDC)	
	5.2		nal Development Australia Great Southern WA Inc (RDA-GS)	
	5.3		Southern Regional Roads Group	
	5.4		tment of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC)	
	5.5		SA Roadwise	
	5.6		Group	
	5.7		ern power	
6	CON	IFIRM.	ATION OF MINUTES	8
	6.1		ess Arising from the Minutes	
	6.2	Zone I	Resolutions and Action Items Status Reports	8
		6.2.1	Zone Status Report	8
		6.2.2	Zone Action Items Report	8
7	ZON	E BUS	INESS	9
	7.1	Zone I	Reports	9
		7.1.1	Zone Financial Report	9
		7.1.2	Zone Chairperson's Report	11
	7.2	Zone S	Strategic Priorities	
		7.2.1	Zone Strategic Priorities	
	7.3	Matte	rs for Zone Noting and Decision	
		7.3.1	Provision of Remote General Practitioner Services	
		7.3.2	Zone Priorities for Ministerial Briefings	
		7.3.3	Local Government (Development Assessment Panels) Regulations 2 17	
		7.3.4	Request to Present - Lotterywest	
			Band 4 Local Governments meeting - update	
8	WAL		TATE COUNCIL BUSINESS	
	8.1		State Council Member Report	
	8.2	State	Council Meeting Agenda	
		8.2.1	Regulations for CEO KPIs and Online Registers - WALGA Submiss	
			(State Council Agenda Item 8.1)	
		8.2.2	Dog and Cat Management Advocacy Position (State Council Age Item 8.2)	
		8.2.3	Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations Advocacy Position (State Cou	ıncil
		8.2.4	Submission on the State Recovery Arrangements (State Council Age	
			Item 8.4)	34
		8.2.5	Health (Public Buildings) Regulations Consultation (State Cou Agenda Item 8.5)	
	8.3	OTHF	R STATE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS	
		8.3.1	WALGA State President's Report	
9	EME		G ISSUES/COLLABORATION	
10			JSINESS	
_				

11	NEXT ZONE MEETING	.44
12	CLOSURE	.44

PRIORITISATION FRAMEWORK

How to use the Framework:

- If the majority of the factors are towards the left column, the issue is a high priority.
- If the majority of the factors are towards the middle, the issue requires action, but is not a high priority.
- If the majority of the factors are towards the right column, the issue is a low priority.

Impact on Local Government Sector Impact on Local Government sector without intervention	High	Medium	Low
Reach Number of member Local Governments affected	Sector- wide	Significant multiple regions, Zones, or bands	Few
Influence Capacity to influence decision makers	High	Medium	Low
Principles Alignment to core principles such as autonomy, funding, general competence	Strong	Partial	Peripheral
Clarity Policy change needed is clear and well-defined	Clear	Partial	Unclear
Decision-maker support Level of support among decision-makers (political and administrative)	High	Medium	Low
Public support Level of support among the public or other stakeholders	High	Medium	Low
Positive consequences for WALGA Prospect of positive consequences for WALGA. E.g. enhanced standing among members or leverage for other issues.	High	Medium	Low
Negative consequences for WALGA Prospect of negative consequences for WALGA for not undertaking the advocacy effort. E.g. diminished standing among members or other stakeholders.	High	Medium	Low
Partnerships Potential for partnerships with other stakeholders	Yes (3+)	Possibly (1-2)	No (0)

1 OPENING, ATTENDANCE AND APOLOGIES

1.1 OPENING

The Chair, Cr Scott Crosby opened the meeting at 10:05am.

1.2 ATTENDANCE

MEMBERS 2 Voting Delegates from each Member Council

City of Albany Mayor Greg Stocks Zone Deputy Chair

Deputy Delegate/s Cr Lynn MacLaren

Shire of Broomehill-Tambellup President Cr Michael White

Deputy President Cr Doug Barritt CEO Karen Callaghan (non-voting)

Shire of Cranbrook President Cr George Pollard

CEO Linda Gray (non-voting)

Shire of Denmark Cr Donna Carman (Deputy Delegate)

Shire of Gnowangerup Deputy President Cr Rebecca O'Meehan

CEO David Nicholson (non-voting)

Shire of Jerramungup Cr Neil Foreman (Deputy Delegate)

CEO Martin Cuthbert (non-voting)

Shire of Katanning President Cr Kristy D'Aprile

Cr John Goodheart

Shire of Kent Cr Scott Crosby, Zone Chair

CEO Christie Smith (non-voting)

Shire of Kojonup Deputy President Cr Cyntha Wieringa

Deputy Delegate/s Cr Michael Mathwin

CEO Grant Thompson (non-voting)

Shire of Plantagenet President, Cr Len Handasyde

Observer Cr Josh Lieber

CEO Julian Murphy (non-voting)

Shire of Ravensthorpe

Deputy Delegate/s Cr Sue Leighton

Shire of Woodanilling Deputy President Cr Russel Thomson

GUESTS Agencies

Great Southern Development

Commission

Eden Shepherd, Director Regional Development

Members of Parliament Marie O'Dea, representing Hon. Rick Wilson MP,

Member for O'Connor

WALGA Lyn Fogg, Zone Executive Officer

Chris Hossen, Policy Manager Planning and

Building

Guest Speaker/s Nil

1.3 APOLOGIES

City of Albany CEO Andrew Sharpe (non-voting)

Deputy Mayor Cr Paul Terry

Shire of Cranbrook Deputy President Cr Daisy Egerton-Warburton

Shire of Denmark Cr Jackie Ormsby
Cr Dominic Youel

CEO David King (non-voting)

Shire of Gnowangerup President Cr Kate O'Keeffe

DCEO, Chiara Gailbraith

Shire of Jerramungup President Cr Joanne Iffla

Deputy President Cr Julie Leenhouwers

Shire of Katanning CEO Peter Klein (non-voting)
Shire of Kent President Cr Kate Johnston
Shire of Kojonup President Cr Roger Bilney
Shire of Ravensthorpe President, Cr Tom Major

Deputy President, Cr Mark Mudie CEO Matthew Bird (non-voting)

Shire of Woodanilling President Cr Dale Douglas

A/CEO Mark Hook (non-voting)

Members of Parliament Hon Steve Martin MLC, Member for Agricultural

Region

Hon Shelley Payne MLC, Member for Agricultural

Region

Hon. Peter Rundle, Member for Roe Simon Lyas, Chief Executive Officer

Regional Development Australia –

Great Southern WA Inc

Roadwise

Simon Lyas, Chief Executive Office

Department of Local Government,

Sport, and Cultural Industries

Mel Eastough, Regional Manager

Michelle Blackhurst, Regional Road Safety

Adviser

CBH Group Ms Kellie Todman,

Western Power Natasha Guerinoni, Principal Social Impact

Advisor

2 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY

We, the Great Southern Country Zone of WALGA acknowledge the continuing connection of Aboriginal people to County, culture, and community. We embrace the vast cultural diversity throughout Western Australia, including the Noongar People as the Traditional Custodians of this land, and pay our respects to Elders past and present. WALGA is committed to supporting the efforts of WA Local Governments to foster respectful partnerships and strengthen relationships with local Aboriginal communities.

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Nil.

4 DEPUTATIONS / GUEST SPEAKERS

Approved Future Guest Speakers:

Zone Meeting	Presenter	Topic
June 2025 TBC	Department of Planning,	Aboriginal Heritage Survey
	Lands and Heritage	Program
November 2025 TBC	ERA	TBA
November 2025	Department of Fire and	DFES Update
	Emergency Services	

NOTED.

4.1 MEMBERS OF PARLIAMENT

Members of Federal and State Government, representing the Zone Member Local Government Districts, are invited to provide a brief update on matters relevant to Zone Members.

No Members of Parliament were in attendance.

5 AGENCY REPORTS

5.1 GREAT SOUTHERN DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION (GSDC)

Report by Eden Shepherd, Director Regional Development

Mr Shepherd provided a verbal update on the following items:

- Hon. Stephen Dawson MLC, Minister for Regional Development; Ports; Science and Innovation; Medical Research; Kimberley, visited the Great Southern Region last week.
- Hon. Reece Whitby MLA, Minister for Police, Road Safety, Tourism, Great Southern will be visiting the Region next week, including Katanning, Mt Barker, Albany.
- GSDC has 12 major priorities, including Albany Health Campus, Albany Airport, Albany Port, Upgrades to national parks funding will be available 1 July.
- Natasha Monks has returned to her substantive role as GSDC- CEO.
- Jarrad Gardner is returned to his substantive role as GSDC- DCEO and Director Regional Development.
- Worker Accommodation Strategy (10-year horizon) is being finalised now with participating LGs to sign off. Strategy is not yet funded.
- Drought resilience planning report being finalised.
- Albany waterfront master plan in progress.
- Aboriginal business capability program 6 x workshops held, with 6 further workshops planned. Diversify and strengthen capability.
- Local Content facilitating State Government contracts with local suppliers. Forum for local suppliers to be held in June.
- Local businesses are strongly advocating for investment in Albany airport.

NOTED.

5.2 REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AUSTRALIA GREAT SOUTHERN WA INC (RDA-GS)

Nil.

5.3 GREAT SOUTHERN REGIONAL ROADS GROUP

Report by Cr Len Handasyde, Shire of Plantagenet

No doubt a lot of good work has been completed again this year as a result of this funding stream. There is much to be done to bring our roads up to a better standard for efficient transport needs of the future and to increase safety on our local roads.

I have seen a draft Agenda for the meeting to be held in Denmark on the 2nd of May.

It points to a few things that will need attention. The deadline for project nominations for the various programs will be listed. As usual it's important to get these in on time.

There will be an Accruals Analysis in the Agenda covering the periods of 21-22 and 23-24 where it shows that some Local Governments in the region have lengthy accrual times. I think there will come a time where lengthy accruals won't be acceptable. It is supposed to just be for a month and yet some are out for lengthy periods. That item will allow all members to see what has happened over the last few years and discussion can take place as to what needs to be done to assist Councils to better handle these situations.

When the question is asked each year as to who will fully acquit on time, the answers are always 100%. We have never reached this target and it remains to be achieved.

It appears as though the Road Project Grants for 25-26 will be around 8.75 million for the Great Southern and I believe that this is a little bit more than 24-25.

Transport remains a key issue in the region with increasing freight tasks each year and an incremental increase in light traffic on both local roads and State highways. The concessional loading of heavy vehicles has also impacted negatively on both networks.

NOTED.

5.4 DEPARTMENT OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT, SPORT AND CULTURAL INDUSTRIES (DLGSC)

Report by Mel Eastough, Regional Manager

The April report from DLGSC is attached with the Minutes.

5.5 WALGA ROADWISE

Report by Michelle Blackhurst, RoadWise Roade Safety Advisor

Michelle Blackhurst was an apology for this meeting.

5.6 CBH GROUP

Report by Kellie Todman, Manager - Government & Industry Relations

Kellie Todman was an apology for this meeting.

5.7 WESTERN POWER

Report by Natasha Guerinoni, Principal Social Impact Advisor

Natasha Guerinoni provided her apology for this meeting as Western Power are not able to provide new updates with the recent change of incoming Government.

Natasha is hoping to be at the June meeting.

6 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

RESOLUTION

Moved: President, Cr Michael White Seconded: President, Cr Len Handasyde

That the Minutes of the Great Southern Country Zone meeting held on 14 February 2025 be confirmed as a true and accurate record of the proceedings.

CARRIED

6.1 Business Arising from the Minutes

Nil.

6.2 ZONE RESOLUTIONS AND ACTION ITEMS STATUS REPORTS

6.2.1 Zone Status Report

By Lyn Fogg, Zone Executive Officer

Attachment No. 1 Zone Status Report April

The Status Report provides an update on Zone resolutions referred to WALGA State Council. Status Items identified as 'Completed' will be removed following this meeting. Zone Members are asked to review responses.

6.2.2 Zone Action Items Report

By Lyn Fogg, Zone Executive Officer

Attachment No. 2 Zone Action Items Report April

The Action Items Report provides an update on Zone resolution for action by Zone members or the Zone Executive Officer. Action Items identified as 'Completed' in this Report will be removed following this meeting. Zone members are asked to review responses.

NOTED: MRWA Operational Procedure summary of feedback was provided as an

attachment to the agenda.

RESOLUTION

Moved: Deputy President Cr Rebecca O'Meehan

Seconded: Mayor Greg Stocks

That the Great Southern Country Zone NOTES the:

1. Status Report for April 2025, as detailed in Attachment No.1, and

2. Action Items Report for April 2025, as detailed in Attachment No.2.

CARRIED

7 ZONE BUSINESS

7.1 ZONE REPORTS

7.1.1 Zone Financial Report

By Mr Richard May, WALGA Finance Manager

Zone Financial Report for Mar 2025

(All amounts are excluding GST unless otherwise specified)

Financial statements for the zone have been prepared on an accrual basis and show the financial performance and financial position for the period ended 31 March 2025.

Income includes all member subscriptions invoiced.

Meeting costs of \$2,167 related to payment for catering expenses for zone meetings.

The overall result for the year to date consists of a surplus of \$4,823 compared to the budgeted surplus of \$1,480.

There is a balance of \$11,290 in the unused project funds in the balance sheet.

Table 1: Statement of Income and Expenditure – period ended 31 March 2025

Great Southern Country Zone Statement of Income and Expenditure as at 31 March 2025				
	Note	Actual \$	Budget \$	
Income				
Subscriptions	1	7,080	6,600	
Other		-		
Total Income		7,080	6,600	
Expenses				
Bank Fees		90	120	
Meeting Costs (Catering)	2	2,167	5,000	

Total Expenses	2,257	5,120
Surplus/(Deficit)	\$4,823	\$1,480

Notes

- 1. Subscriptions excl GST 11@ \$600 each, 1@ 480. Invoiced by WALGA on behalf of GSCZ All fully paid.
- 2. Catering expense for zone meetings held throughout the year (Jerramungup, Denmark, Gnowangerup)

Table 2: Balance Sheet presenting the Zone's financial position as at 31 March 2025

Great Southern Country Zone			
Balance Sheet as at 31 Mar 2025			
Assets			\$
Bank			20,545
Debtors			
Total Assets			20,545
Liabilities			
Creditors			-
GST Payable			-
Unused Project Funds	-		11,290
Total Liabilities			11,290
Net Assets		\$	9,255
Equity			
Members Funds B/F			4,432
Current year earnings			4,823
Total Equity		\$	9,255
Note 1: Creditors			
Local Govt Agricultural Freight Group - (2 years)			
March 25 Catering to be reimbursed			

RESOLUTION

Moved: President, Cr Len Handasyde

Seconded: Mayor Greg Stocks

That the Great Southern Country Zone receives the Zone Financial Report for March 2025.

CARRIED

7.1.2 Zone Chairperson's Report

Cr Scott Crosby, Zone Chairperson

Cr Scott Crosby provided a verbal update to the Zone.

7.2 ZONE STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

7.2.1 Zone Strategic Priorities

By Lyn Fogg, Zone Executive Officer

BACKGROUND

The Great Southern Country Zone has previously endorsed advocacy on the following strategic priorities:

Regional Education

Zone provided a detailed submission on the draft Regional Education Strategy, which was not finalised by the previous Minister for Education prior to the March State Election.

Housing (GROH)

Zone has advocated for State investment and/ responsibility for providing sufficient regional GROH housing, so that GROH requirements are not consuming residential housing that is necessary for worker accommodation, community and economic viability.

Housing (Headworks costs / delays)

Zone has advocated to the former Ministers responsible for Western Power and Water Authority, for grants / funding to offset high costs for regional development of land for housing, to improve the accuracy of Western Power and Water authority quotes and to reduce delays in completing headworks by these agencies.

Skilled Worker Migration

The Zone noted at the February 2025 meeting that the Federal Government had confirmed the Zone's DAMA application was refused and therefore the Zone wound up its DAMA project. Skilled worker migration remains a key issue for economic and community viability in the Great Southern Region.

COMMENT

Following the March 2025 State Election, the State Government, created Ministerial portfolios for each Region across WA. The Hon. Reece Whitby MLA is appointed Minister for the Great Southern, and Minister for Police: Road Safety: Tourism.

Relevant to the Zone's Strategic Priorities are the following Ministerial appointments:

Regional Education	Hon. Sabine Winton BS BPS MLA Minister for Education
Housing (GROH)	Hon. Matthew Swinbourn BA LLB MLC Minister for Community Services
Housing (Headworks costs / delays)	Hon. Amber-Jade Sanderson BA MLA Minister for Energy Hon. Don Punch BPsych Bsocwk MBA MLA Minister for Water
Skilled Worker Migration	Hon. Amber-Jade Sanderson BA MLA Minister for Skills and TAFE

State Government has also announced substantial Machinery of Government changes to Departments and departmental responsibilities, which are to take effect from 1 July 2025 but are likely to cause substantial disruption to department operations for some time.

The Zone Secretariat has written to Minister Whitby, as Minister for Great Southern, extending an invitation for the Minister to attend any, or all, of the Zone's meetings scheduled to end of 2025. It is intended to follow up with the Minister's Chief of Staff.

If Zone Secretariat is advised of the Minister's availability to attend a future meeting, it may be appropriate for the Zone to coordinate a short presentation outlining key issues associated with each of the Zone's Strategic Priorities, as an opportunity to inform the Minister and seek his advocacy across other Ministerial portfolios.

It would also be beneficial for the Zone to write to each newly appointed Minister advocating for the Zone's priorities.

DISCUSSION

- Secretariate to send GSCZ's Regional Education submission to the Minister for Education.
- WA DAMA -
 - 67 occupations are still not included but are necessary for Great Southern Region.
 - FIFO worker status unclear if these are allocated as 'regional' Secretariate to seek confirmation from Minister.

RESOLUTION

Moved: President, Cr Len Handasyde

Seconded: Deputy President, Cr Rebecca O'Meehan

The Great Southern Country Zone:

- Advocates for the Minister for Great Southern to attend meetings of the Zone and
 if the Minister agrees to attend, then at the first meeting attended the Zone
 Secretariat is to coordinate with Zone members a presentation at that meeting on
 the Zone's Strategic Priorities for discussion with the Minister.
- 2. Writes to responsible Ministers advocating for the Zone's Strategic Priorities.

CARRIED

7.3 MATTERS FOR ZONE NOTING AND DECISION

7.3.1 Provision of Remote General Practitioner Services

By Shire of Gnowangerup

BACKGROUND

Many countries face the problem of shortages of health workers in rural and remote areas. Health workers generally prefer to be located close to major hospitals and health facilities where they trained and with good professional support and resources, and in areas with family and social support and access to schools for their children.

According to the World Health Organisation, rural health workforce shortages are one of the major impediments to well-functioning health systems with a lack of General Practitioners (GPs) in rural communities associated with reduced access and inferior health outcomes.¹

Factors contributing to rural medical workforce shortages include training pathways with little rural exposure, demanding working conditions, inadequate remuneration and professional development opportunities in rural practice, and social isolation. Financial incentives are widely used by Commonwealth and State policy makers as well as local governments to improve recruitment and retention of GPs to rural and remote communities.

There are minimum floor costs that exist to maintain basic medical services in any location. These include GPs, nursing and administration staff, premises, equipment and ongoing overheads. In remote communities, Medicare billing alone cannot cover these floor costs for a variety of reasons.

The alliance of councils comprising the Shires of Gnowangerup, Jerramungup, Kojonup, Lake Grace, Narembeen, and Ravensthorpe prepared a position paper to raise awareness and suggest a solution to attract and retain GPs in their rural and remote communities, where current Commonwealth and State government policy settings are inadequate.

The six local governments collectively contribute over \$1.475 million cash annually to attract and retain resident GP services, plus housing, vehicles, and surgeries. These financial contributions are sourced through rates and are unsustainable. They are essential for community health but place a significant financial strain on local government resources, diverting funds from other vital services that are well within the remit of local government.

The six remote local governments (RM6 and RM7 under the Modified Monash Model) are using a substantial portion of their ratepayer funds to attract and retain GPs (some up to 16% of their rates). The financial incentives to attract a GP are currently heavily influenced by the local government tender process where providers have the ability to set and negotiate the market rate. This is unsustainable.

Local governments are required to step into the space of primary health care because the per capita expenditure by the Commonwealth and States on health is lower in the regions, the viability of practices is challenged due to remote geography, increased business costs and less patients.

Great Southern Country Zone | 11 April 2025

Financial Assistance Grants must be increased for regional and remote local governments (RM6 and RM7) to assist in attracting and retaining general practitioners. Higher income incentives are currently required by local governments and practice operators to attract GPs to remote areas and existing programs do not meet these needs.

The alliance is though raising awareness to the fact that market rates to attract a GP in a RM 6 and RM 7 community are significantly rising, with Commonwealth and State Government programs needed to match these market rates. The alliance is also raising awareness that telehealth is not the answer to shortages of GPs in remote communities and a rural generalist model, which is currently provided across the Shires is well received and delivering immense benefits.

They are seeking sustainability payments from Commonwealth and State Governments to local governments to reduce ratepayer funding towards primary health care.

In Australia, shortages and the inequitable distribution of general practitioners (GPs) remain a significant policy issue despite the fact that since the 1990s the Commonwealth Government has been implementing a range of initiatives to address rural workforce shortages.

A 2023 Rural Health West study found that 53% of non-metropolitan local governments in WA were spending money to provide GP services, costing just under \$7.8million annually (Note this was from the 2021/22 Financial Year and has substantially increased not only through inflation but market rates).

Communities across the country are also experiencing a GP shortage, and according to the Commonwealth's Department of Health report (August 2024), the shortage is most pronounced in rural areas.

At the Australian Local Government Association national meeting in September 2024, the Shire of Dundas put forward the following motion (113), which was carried:

This National General Assembly calls upon the Australian Government and the Commonwealth Minister for Health and Aged Care, Hon Mark Butler MP, to plan and fund the provision of medical services (in consultation with relevant local governments) to regional, rural and remote communities.

On Friday November 11, 2024 the WA Local Government Association (WALGA) convened a meeting of band 4 local governments. The purpose of the meeting was to identify the strategic priorities of the members, to help inform WALGA policies on a variety of issues.

It was agreed at the meeting that "Local Governments allocating ratepayer funds towards delivering medical services or contracting medical service providers to have a presence in their community" was the second highest priority to all band 4 local governments in WA.

Caroline Robinson from 150 Square was contracted to prepare the submission and subsequent actions. A Position Paper was prepared on behalf of the Shires of Gnowangerup, Jerramungup, Kojonup, Narembeen, Lake Grace and Ravensthorpe and was submitted to the Federal Budget Pre-Submission process for consideration.

In addition, these members of the alliance agreed that a motion be prepared and submitted to the ALGA National Assembly of Local Government being held in Canberra from 24-27 June 2025.

The Shire of Lake Grace is putting the motion to ALGA on behalf of the group of local governments listed above collectively now the 'Alliance of RM 6 and RM 7 Councils'

The Motion reads:

This National General Assembly calls on the Australian Government to increase the Financial Assistance Grants for regional and remote local governments (RM6 and RM7) to assist in funds associated with attracting and retaining general practitioners, therefore redirecting ratepayer funds to local government responsibilities.

It is planned to send up to four delegates to the Assembly which will also include meetings with the relevant government departments.

This action aligns with the Local Government Primary Healthcare Services Survey undertaken by Rural Health West and commissioned by WALGA in 2023 and endorsed by State Council in December 2024.

Zone members are requested to note the motion submitted to the National Assembly of Local Government regarding financial assistance for the provision of medical services to regional and remote local governments.

If successful in the campaign positive benefits may be seen across all local governments in like positions.

WALGA Secretariat Comment

WALGA supports the Alliance of RM 6 and RM 7 Councils' (the Alliance) motion submitted to the ALGA NGA calling for increased Australian Government financial support for Local Governments supporting the provision of essential healthcare services for their communities. The provision of healthcare services in Australia is both an Australian and State responsibility, principally through the Medicare system at the Federal level. Raising this issue at the ALGA NGA provides an opportunity to elevate the issue to an ALGA priority at the National level and gain support from Local Governments experiencing similar cost imposts in other jurisdictions.

It is pleasing to hear that the WALGA commissioned Local Government Primary Healthcare Services Survey Report (Survey Report) was useful in the development of the Alliances' Position Paper and ALGA motion.

Equitable access to primary healthcare is an important issue for many WALGA, including some that fall outside of the rural zone according to the Rural, Remote and Metropolitan Area (RRMA) classification.

Reflective of the financial impact on the sector and building on the Survey Report, WALGA has begun a strategic advocacy plan which includes targeted actions for the Australian and State Governments, leveraging the opportunities of elections, new Cabinet compositions and the renegotiation of the National Health Reform Agreement (NHRA) between the Australian Government and States and Territories. WALGA continues to offer its support to the Alliance on this important issue.

NOTED.

7.3.2 Zone Priorities for Ministerial Briefings

By Dana Mason, External Affairs Manager, WALGA

BACKGROUND

Following the March election, the Cook Government has unveiled its new Cabinet, emphasizing regional representation by appointing a dedicated Minister for each region.

The new Cabinet structure shows that the Government intends to have a greater focus on regional WA during this term.

WALGA has written to all Ministers responsible for specific regions, inviting them to participate in upcoming meetings of their respective WALGA Zones.

WALGA will also provide each Minister with a written briefing on the key issues facing their region.

To ensure these briefings are comprehensive, WALGA is seeking input from the Zones to identify the top three to five priorities they would like highlighted.

The Zones provide an important opportunity for the Government to have a direct line of communication and engagement with regional WA and ensure that local issues are considered in the broader policy agenda.

WALGA will report on engagements with Ministers responsible for specific regions through the President's report at a future Zone meeting.

RESOLUTION

Moved: Deputy President, Cr Rebecca O'Meehan

Seconded: President, Cr Michael White

That the Great Southern Country Zone provide the below top three to WALGA as the Zone's priorities:

- 1. Regional Health Care
 - a. Local Government should not become the default funding body for the shortfall in regional primary health care services.
 - b. Local Governments that are currently funding the shortfall in regional primary health care services, should be provided State and Federal grants to off-set the costs.
- 2. State to provide a comprehensive Strategy for Renewable Energy transition:
 - a. Appropriate planning framework that addresses the land use impact on agricultural land and regional communities.
 - b. Impact on regional local road networks during construction.
 - c. Whole of asset life infrastructure planning including environmental impact arising from decommissioning the infrastructure at end of asset life (should not end up in Local Government landfill sites).
 - d. Community benefit quantified and options for delivering benefit.
 - e. Rating for renewable energy sites.
- 3. Regional housing
 - a. Greenfields development headworks (water, electricity services) costs are prohibitive and timeliness of (delays in) construction.

b. State Government to develop and deliver GROH housing - so that State Government workers are no longer housed in Local Government provided worker accommodation or private rental accommodation.

CARRIED

7.3.3 Local Government (Development Assessment Panels) Regulations 2025

By Chris Hossen, Policy Manager, Planning and Building and Felicity Morris, Manager Governance and Procurement

BACKGROUND

The State Government's 2021 updates to the *Action Plan for Planning Reform* included measures to improve consistency and transparency for DAP applications, including clarifying the respective role of Elected Members and officers to remove Elected Members from what were deemed to be administrative DAP functions.

These changes were not included in amendments to the *Planning and Development Act 2005*, but were included as part of the 2024 reforms to the *Local Government Act 1995* through the insertion of a new section (s. 9.69 B) to allow for the creation of regulations that specify DAP functions that must be performed on behalf of the Local Government by the CEO or authorised officer.

On Tuesday 1 April 2025, new *Local Government (Development Assessment Panels)* Regulations 2025 (the Regulations) were gazetted. The Regulations come into full effect from 1 May 2025, and will apply to all Development Assessment Panel (DAP) applications lodged from that date. The Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC) sent an LG Alert to the sector on 2 April advising of the new regulations.

The Regulations:

- require Responsible Authority Reports (RARs) to be prepared and submitted by the CEO of a Local Government, or an employee authorised by the CEO
 - o CEOs of Class 1 and 2 Local Governments must authorise at least one employee
 - Local Governments will still be able to engage external consultants to assist in preparing RARs
- prohibit the Council from directing the CEO, an authorised employee or a consultant in preparing the RAR or directing the CEO to engage a particular consultant
- require the CEO and authorised employees to disclose conflicts of interests in accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government Act 1995*, and not undertake any DAP functions in which they have a conflict of interest.

The Regulations are available on the WA Legislation website.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

WALGA <u>Advocacy Positions</u> 6.1 Planning Principles and Reform and 6.4 Development Assessment Panels (see Attachment A).

COMMENT

Local Governments have one month to consider and implement the appropriate authorisations, and any resulting changes to systems and processes. WALGA will produce template authorisations and will host an officer information session with the relevant departments to assist Local Governments.

While Councils will be prevented from directing staff in the preparation of RARs, the administration can continue to brief Council on the content and progress of any DAP applications. There are no changes to the composition of DAPs.

WALGA will continue to oppose changes that erode Local Government autonomy and influence in the WA planning system and will continue to advocate for reforms that recognise the benefits of local decision making in planning.

WALGA is commencing a review of its Development Assessment Panel advocacy position and will consult with the sector and zones as part of that process.

Questions regarding the Regulations can be directed to the local government reform team at actreview@dlgsc.wa.gov.au or the DAP secretariat at daps@dplh.wa.gov.au.

NOTED.

Item 7.3.3 - Attachment A

WALGA Advocacy Positions

6.1 Planning Principles and Reform

- 1. The Local Government sector supports an efficient and effective planning system guided by legislation, policy, and processes that:
 - a. facilitates the creation of sustainable and liveable communities and places
 - b. has a focus on strategic planning that delivers on long-term objectives and outcomes that balance social, environmental, cultural, and economic interests
 - c. is easy to understand, accessible and transparent
 - d. recognises the diversity of Western Australia and ensures that local environment, context, communities and character are appropriately reflected in planning frameworks and decision making
 - e. ensures decisions are made by the level of government closest to and most impacted by a planning proposal
 - f. establishes consistent planning frameworks and streamlines planning processes where there is a demonstrated benefit in doing so.
- 2. Reforms to the planning system should:
 - a. be guided by the above principles
 - b. deliver community benefit
 - c. promote system efficiency, including through the use of technology
 - d. be evidence-based and informed by robust, transparent data
 - e. proceed at an appropriate pace to enable effective implementation
 - f. be informed by engagement with the community
 - g. be amended only with WALGA involvement and consultation/involvement with Local Government.

September 2024 - 069.4/2024

6.4 Development Assessment Panels (currently under review)

The Association does not support Development Assessment Panels (DAPs) in their current structure. Necessary changes to the structure of the DAPs system include:

1. the abolishment of the current 'mandatory' mechanism where a proposal has a value of \$10 million or greater, and its replacement with an 'opt in' mechanism for all proposals

- 2. raising the DAP threshold from the current \$2 million to \$5 million,
- 3. the composition DAPs should be modified to provide equal representation of Specialist Members and Local Government Members,
- 4. the creation of a distinct Special Matters DAP (SMDAP) is not supported, given there are already multiple avenues for determination on the basis of zoning and monetary value of applications. Should the State Government progress with the implementation of a SMDAP, the following changes are proposed to the model released in March 2022:
 - allow proponents with proposals that meet the threshold or criteria being able to opt-out of the SMDAP pathway and allow assessment and determination by Local Government,
 - mandate consultation with the relevant Local Governments prior to the issuing of a Ministerial Order in relation to SMDAP Precinct Criteria, and
 - ensure SMDAP Precincts be identified through Regulations, rather than by the Minister,
 - include greater professional planning expertise, and knowledge of local context through the Local Government members of the District DAP, by including majority professional town planner panel members, with two Local Government representatives,
 - expand the role of Local Governments in SMDAP processes and appropriate renumeration for involvement of Local Governments be included to support the SMDAP decision-making process
- 5. in principle, the further reduction in the number of panels from five to three is supported, to the extent that this reduces the administrative burden on local governments and enhances consistency of decision making,
- 6. in principle, the permanent appointment of panel members where this results in consistent decision making is supported as this reduces the potential for conflicts of interest and ensures sound knowledge of DAP processes and procedures,
- 7. WALGA supports greater transparency around DAP processes and decisions, as community distrust of DAP decision-making is a key area of concern for many local governments.

May 2022 - 338.4/2022

7.3.4 Request to Present - Lotterywest

Jolene Burnett, Manager Grants and Community Development at Lotterywest, would like the opportunity to attend the June Zone meeting and provide a high-level introduction of the Lotterywest Community Investment Framework that focuses on grant-making for impact.

This outcomes-based approach puts greater emphasis on measuring, evidencing and evaluating the specific, long-term positive changes that an initiative or intervention will generate; and is fast becoming accepted good practice across the broader grants and philanthropic landscape.

The presentation will also provide an overview of the grants in the region and discuss the ways Lotterywest can support and work with Local Governments.

DECISION

The Great Southern Country Zone AGREES to a presentation from Lotterywest at the June Zone meeting.

7.3.5 Band 4 Local Governments meeting - update

By Tony Brown, Executive Director Member Services

BACKGROUND

Following the Band 4 roundtable meeting hosted by the Minister for Local Government, Hon Hannah Beasley, on 3 September 2024, WALGA was pleased to host a further meeting of Band 4 Local Governments to continue the discussion.

The meeting was held on 11 October at the Perth Convention and Exhibition Centre. All 60 Band 4 Local Governments in the State were invited to attend. Overall, 72 representatives from 48 Local Governments attended the meeting.

The aim of the meeting was to identify and agree on the top issues facing Band 4 WA Local Governments, to enable the group to consider and develop potential solutions to these issues, before presenting to the Minister.

Caroline Robinson, Director of 150 Square facilitated the discussion.

ATTACHMENT

• Band 4 Local Governments meeting update report

COMMENT

As the main outcome of the meeting, the group identified the top four strategic and operational issues facing Band 4 Local Governments (from most pressing to least pressing):

- 1. Housing;
- 2. Audit:
- Provision of medical services; and
- 4. Financial Assistance Grants (timing).

WALGA has since undertaken considerable work on the above issues.

An update report on the work done to date was recently circulated to all Band 4 CEOs and Presidents and is provided as an attachment to this item.

NOTED.

8 WALGA STATE COUNCIL BUSINESS

8.1 ZONE STATE COUNCIL MEMBER REPORT

Cr Scott Crosby, Zone State Councillor

Cr Scott Crosby provided a verbal update.

Zone noted its concern that the proposed WALGA Climate Change Policy provided an 'officer' perspective. The draft policy is now to be further consulted with the sector.

8.2 STATE COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

Zone Delegates are invited to read and consider the WALGA State Council Agenda, which has been provided as an attachment with this Agenda and can be found via the link <u>here</u>.

The Zone can provide comment or submit an alternative recommendation on any of the items, including the items for noting. The Zone comment will then be presented to the State Council for consideration at their meeting.

The State Council Agenda items requiring a decision of State Council are extracted for Zone consideration below.

8.2.1 Regulations for CEO KPIs and Online Registers – WALGA Submission (State Council Agenda Item 8.1)

By Tony Brown, Executive Director Member Services and Felicity Morris, Manager Governance and Procurement

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- Consultation is open on the draft Local Government Regulations Amendment Regulations 2024 (the Draft Regulations), which give effect to reforms relating to the publication of online registers, publication of CEO performance criteria and performance reviews, and other CEO matters.
- The Local Government legislation reform platform from the State Government indicated that one of the reform outcomes was "Reducing red tape, increasing consistency and simplicity".
- The overwhelming sector feedback is that these reforms will not achieve this aim and will instead increase red tape without any clear public benefit.
- Sector feedback has been collated and identifies overarching concerns listed in this report.
- The attached submission, informed by this feedback, is recommended for endorsement.

ATTACHMENT

Regulations for CEO KPIs and public registers Draft WALGA submission

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

WALGA's existing advocacy positions are based on the high-level reform proposals provided for public consultation in 2022.

The current **Advocacy Positions** are:

2.2.4 CEO Recruitment Panel

The Local Government sector supports the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries establishing a panel of approved panel members to perform the role of the independent person on CEO recruitment panels.

2.5.27 Online Registers

The Local Government sector supports requiring Local Governments to report specific information in online registers on the Local Government's website, including registers for leases, community grants, interests disclosures, applicant contributions and contracts (excluding contracts of employment).

2.5.28 Publishing CEO Key Performance Indicators

- 1. The Local Government sector conditionally supports the reporting of CEO Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that are consistent with the strategic direction and operational function of the Local Government, subject to exemptions for publishing KPIs of a confidential nature.
- 2. The Local Government sector does not support results of CEO performance reviews being published.

BACKGROUND

The Local Government Amendment Act 2023 (2023 Amendment Act) contained the Tranche 1 reforms to the Local Government Act 1995 (the Act). This included the following changes which are yet to commence:

- Requirements for Local Government CEO's performance criteria and performance reviews to be published.
- Establishment of a panel of independent persons for CEO performance reviews.
- A requirement for Local Governments to publish and maintain registers on their website.

The draft Local Government Regulations Amendment Regulations 2024 (the Draft Regulations), which will give effect to these reforms, have been released for public consultation. The Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC) have requested comment by 8 May. Information is available on the <u>DLGSC website</u>, including a copy of the <u>Draft Regulations</u> and a <u>DLGSC Consultation Paper</u>.

WALGA circulated a discussion paper and request for comment to all Local Governments on 30 January.

COMMENT

Responses received from Local Governments indicate serious concerns with the detail of the Draft Regulations. Overarching concerns include:

- The creation of red tape and excessive administrative burden, in conflict with a stated aim of the reform, and without clear public benefit.
- Continued proliferation of compliance requirements for Local Governments, including overlapping but inconsistent reporting obligations.
- Unreasonable implementation timeframes given existing Local Government workload, cumulative burden of ongoing program of reform and upcoming elections.
- Confusion and lack of clarity (plain English drafting) in the Draft Regulations.

Specific concerns are discussed in relation to each proposal.

CEO matters: Publishing performance criteria and reports on performance review

Of the submissions that provided comment on this aspect of the Draft Regulations, over half expressed strong opposition to publication of CEO KPIs and performance reviews. Opposition was based on factors including the inconsistency with public sector practice, risks to CEOs, mechanisms for reporting on organisational rather than individual performance and the erosion of Local Government autonomy. A small number of Local Governments broadly supported the regulations or their intent. In addressing the content of Draft Regulations 18AA and 18FAA, submissions raised concerns with the proposed reporting of target achievement and the mechanisms for exclusion of performance criteria from publication.

CEO matters: Independent persons panel (CEO recruitment)

Key concerns included a lack of clarity about the selection criteria and processes to be followed by the Departmental CEO in establishing the panel, the capacity for Councils to

appoint independent members from within their own districts, and the management of conflicts of interest.

CEO matters: Certification, recruitment and termination

There were divided views on the requirement for separate certification, but support for the retention of a requirement to conduct a selection process before contract expiry, the option to include additional information in a performance criterion and the proposed modification of the CEO Standards in relation to termination during probation.

Registers: General considerations

Local Governments articulated a range of concerns that are applicable to all registers, including the administrative burden, unreasonable commencement and retrospectivity, lack of clarity and difficulty in applying the requirements, and the implications of the *Privacy and Responsible Information Sharing Act 2024* (the PRIS Act).

Lease register

Submissions raised considerable concerns with this proposed register. Issues include the breadth of the lease definition, safety and confidentiality for residents and community groups, commercial in confidence information and the ability of Local Governments to generate best value from assets, whether through commercial returns or community benefits.

Grants and sponsorships register

Some Local Governments provided general support for the register, subject to the exclusion of retrospectivity. However, the majority of submissions identified concerns regarding the value threshold, privacy and confidentiality, and a lack of clarity in the calculation of value.

Development contributions register

The majority of submissions expressed concerns regarding the administrative burden with limited improvements in transparency and oversight of Developer Contribution Plans (DCPs) than is currently provided for under the state planning framework. This burden is exacerbated by the retrospectivity and short implementation timeframe. Those Local Governments with a high number of DCPs advise that this is likely to lead to delays and increased costs in the administration of DCPs. Privacy considerations and practical issues with the calculation of interest for individual contributions, and the list of items and percentage of expenditure were also identified.

Contracts for goods and services register

All submissions that commented on the contract register highlighted concerns including the administrative burden associated with the unreasonably low threshold value and duplication of existing reporting requirements. Members raised heightened fraud risks, and issues relating to commercial in confidence information. There is also a lack of clarity regarding the definition of contract and contract value.

This sector feedback and detailed analysis of the Draft Regulations has informed the preparation of the attached draft WALGA submission.

WALGA RECOMMENDATION

That WALGA endorse the recommendations contained in the attached 'Regulations for CEO KPIs and public registers submission'.

RESOLUTION

Moved: Cr Lynn McLaren

Seconded: Deputy President, Cr Rebecca O'Meehan

That the Great Southern Country Zone support the WALGA recommendation for State Council Agenda item 8.1 as contained in the State Council Agenda and as provided above.

CARRIED

8.2.2 Dog and Cat Management Advocacy Position (State Council Agenda Item 8.2)

By Felicity Morris, Manager Governance and Procurement and Marnie Herrington, Governance Specialist

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- Motions from Zones regarding the PetsWA Centralised Registration Database provide an opportunity to review the existing *Puppy Farming* advocacy position and replace it with a new *Dog and Cat Management* advocacy position.
- The purpose of the new position is to reflect the progression of the *Dog Amendment* (Stop Puppy Farming) Act 2021 and the emerging concerns of the Local Government sector regarding the PetsWA centralised registration system.
- The Governance Policy Team endorsed the new advocacy position at its meeting on 24 March.

ATTACHMENT

• Comparison table between current Advocacy Position 2.12 Puppy Farming, and proposed advocacy position Dog and Cat Management.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

This item is to replace existing Advocacy Position *2.12 Puppy Farming* with a new *Dog and Cat Management* position.

The current Advocacy Position is as follows:

2.12 Puppy Farming

- 1. The WA Local Government sector:
 - a) Welcomes a cost modelling review of the financial impact on Local Governments to ensure that Local Government is able to fully recover costs and not be disadvantaged in ensuring compliance of any new legislation to Stop Puppy Farming.
 - b) Acknowledges the benefit of de-sexing of dogs not used for approved breeding purposes, and request further information on the complexities associated with de-sexing of dogs prior to considering supporting the proposal.

- c) Supports a centralised dog registration system that is developed, operated and maintained by State Government.
- d) Supports appropriate legislative exemptions for livestock working dogs in recognition of their special breeding requirements.
- e) Does not support the transition of pet shops to adoption centres.
- f) Requests there be a Local Government-specific consultation process in relation to the proposed amendments to the Animal Welfare Act to introduce Standards and Guidelines for the Health and Welfare of Animals including dogs.
- g) Supports a State Government-led education initiative whereby the community is encouraged to purchase puppies from professional registered breeders.
- h) Requests the State Government discontinue the use of the term 'Farming' due to the negative connotation that may be associated with other regulated industries, and consider re-naming the initiative 'Stop Puppy Mills'.
- 2. The Local Government sector advocates that:
 - a) any additional costs incurred by a Local Government in administering the Dog Act be paid by the State Government; and
 - b) the Fees and Charges set in Regulations are reviewed bi-annually and at minimum, be adjusted by the Local Government Cost Index.

The recommended new Advocacy Position is as follows:

Dog and Cat Management

In regard to the Dog Amendment (Stop Puppy Farming) Act 2021 and the PetsWA Centralised Database, the WA Local Government sector advocates:

- a) that fees reflect completed cost modelling to ensure that Local Governments achieve full cost recovery in ensuring compliance with the Dog Act 1976 or Cat Act 2011.
- b) that Fees and Charges set in Regulations are reviewed bi-annually and, at minimum, adjusted by the Local Government Cost Index.
- c) that the PetsWA centralised registration database is developed, operated and maintained by State Government, with no loss to Local Government registration fee revenue.
- d) that the function of PetsWA be restricted to the registration of dogs and cats, exclude ancillary functions such as animal related complaints and infringement notices, and integrate with existing Local Government corporate systems.
- e) for the continued legislative exemptions for livestock working dogs in recognition of their special breeding requirements.
- f) for a State Government-led education initiative whereby the community is encouraged to purchase puppies from approved breeders.

A table comparing the current and proposed advocacy position can be seen in Attachment A.

BACKGROUND

Stop Puppy Farming Legislation

- At its September 2018 meeting, State Council adopted a detailed position in relation to the Stop Puppy Farming Initiative (*Resolution 103.6/2018*).
- At its March 2020 meeting, State Council resolved that "WALGA write to the Minister and request that he withdraw the Stop Puppy Farming Bill and more appropriately consult with the sector, traditional custodians and the wider community, or failing

- that, that he remove any reference to Local Government in the bill as the sector does not endorse it in its current form" (*Resolution 13.1/2020*).
- At its September 2021, State Council adopted additional points to the advocacy position, supporting WALGA continuing to advocate that:
 - any additional costs incurred by a Local Government in administering the Dog Act be paid by the State Government; and
 - b. the Fees and Charges set in Regulations are reviewed bi-annually and at minimum, be adjusted by the Local Government Cost Index.

(Resolution 275.5/2021)

- In December 2021, the *Dog Amendment (Stop Puppy Farming) Act 2021* (the Act) was passed by Parliament. The Act amended both the *Dog Act 1976* and the *Cat Act 2011* in several ways.
- The implementation of the legislation is occurring in phases, with existing pet shops needing to transition to adoption centres by obtaining a 'pet shop approval' through their Local Governments by 26 May.
- It is anticipated that dog breeding approval provisions and mandatory sterilisation of dogs (unless an exemption is in place) will take effect later in 2025. In August 2024, the State Government awarded a contract to Seisma Group to establish PetsWA (the new centralised registration system for dogs and cats), which is anticipated to be operational later in 2025.

Fees and cost recovery

In a letter to WALGA dated 1 November 2021, Minister John Carey confirmed that "the State Government has committed to covering the costs associated with the establishment of the Centralised Registration System, to centrally record the registration of all domestic cats and dogs within Western Australia". However, the State Government position relating to ongoing costs associated with the system and the particulars about revenue generated from registrations has not been made clear.

In early 2024, the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC) released a Consultation Paper prepared by consultants Marsden Jacob Associates on the new and existing fees and charges under the *Dog Act 1976* and *Cat Act 2011*. WALGA provided a submission in line with State Councils advocacy position as follows.

That WALGA:

- 1. Welcomes a cost modelling review of the financial impact on Local Governments to ensure that Local Government is able to fully recover costs and not be disadvantaged in ensuring compliance of any new legislation to Stop Puppy Farming;
- 2. Supports a centralised dog registration system that is developed, operated and maintained by State Government;
- 3. Any additional costs incurred by a Local Government in administering the Dog Act be paid by the State Government; and
- 4. The Fees and Charges set in Regulations are reviewed biennially and at minimum, be adjusted by the Local Government Cost Index.

Zone resolutions

Central Country Zone

At the Central Country Zone Meeting of 15 November 2024, the Zone considered an item which raised concerns that the administrative costs of the PetsWA central registration system would be withheld by the State Government from registration fees collected by Local Governments. As already noted, registration fees are already insufficient to cover the costs of Local Government cat and dog management responsibilities.

The Zone resolved:

That the Central Country Zone request WALGA to:

- a) advocate to the Government of Western Australia that 100% of the revenue derived from pet registrations (both dogs and cats) continue to be returned directly to Local Governments to effectively administer the Dog Act 1976 and Cat Act 2011.
- b) recommend that the new centralized PetsWA Pet Registry Scheme, administered by the State Government, should not retain any commission or portion of the registration fees for its operations, as the current fee structure does not adequately cover the costs associated with pet management at the Local Government level.

North Metropolitan Zone

At the North Metropolitan Zone Meeting of 20 November 2024, the Zone considered an item which raised concerns that the community would be able to lodge complaints through the PetsWA centralised registration system and that infringements would be issued through the system. As no integration with Local Government systems has been advised, this would create a duplicate workload for officers.

The Zone resolved:

That WALGA advocate to the State Government for the PetsWA Centralised Registration Database scope to be restricted to a centralised registration system (excluding complaints and infringements) that integrates with Local Government's existing corporate systems.

COMMENT

As the Act has progressed, the existing advocacy position should be reviewed to reflect the current state.

A comparison between the current and proposed advocacy position is provided in Attachment A, with key themes addressed below.

Cost Recovery

Under the *Dog Amendment (Stop Puppy Farming)* Act 2021, Local Governments will have increased responsibilities, including approvals to breed and pet shop approvals, as well as associated investigation and enforcement functions. WALGA has continued to advocate to the State Government for fees and charges to be set at a level that achieves full cost recovery and that any additional costs incurred by a Local Government in administering the Dog Act be paid by the State Government. The proposed advocacy position retains these key positions.

The fees from registrations and animal related infringements do not currently cover all costs associated with Local Government responsibilities. There is a risk that the State Government could administer the PetsWA system in a way which reduces Local Government income from registrations.

WALGA's existing advocacy position supports PetsWA to be managed by the State (Advocacy Position 2.12.b). The proposed *Dog and Cat Management* Advocacy Position expands on the existing position to make it absolutely clear that there should be no loss of registration fee revenue to the Local Governments in administering the database.

Scope of PetsWA

The Act provides for a centralised registration system, known as PetsWA, to be managed by the State Government. DLGSC has been tasked with the implementation of the system.

The contract to develop PetsWA was awarded on 2 August 2024 and is expected to launch in the second half of 2025. PetsWA is intended to replace the dog and cat registers managed by individual Local Governments with a single online system, used state-wide. PetsWA will allow dog and cat owners to register their pets and make payments online.

In addition to uncertainty about revenue from fees and charges under PetsWA, there is ambiguity about the scope of information recorded within PetsWA. DLGSC has noted that PetsWA could be used to manage public complaints, request ranger visits, manage dangerous dog notices, and issue infringements. This could increase administrative burden on Local Government staff by duplicating data entry with existing record management systems, as there is no clarity on the extent of the integration with Local Government's existing systems.

To avoid this, PetsWA should be integrated with Local Government's existing systems and the scope should be restricted to its original function as a centralised registration system.

WALGA RECOMMENDATION

That WALGA replace Advocacy Position 2.12 *Puppy Farming* with a revised *Dog and Cat Management* advocacy position, as follows:

In regard to the Dog Amendment (Stop Puppy Farming) Act 2021 and the PetsWA Centralised Database, the WA Local Government sector advocates:

- a) that fees reflect completed cost modelling to ensure that Local Governments achieve full cost recovery in ensuring compliance with the Dog Act 1976 or Cat Act 2011.
- b) that Fees and Charges set in Regulations are reviewed bi-annually and, at minimum, adjusted by the Local Government Cost Index.
- c) that the PetsWA centralised registration database is developed, operated and maintained by State Government, with no loss to Local Government registration fee revenue.
- d) that the function of PetsWA be restricted to the registration of dogs and cats, exclude ancillary functions such as animal related complaints and infringement notices, and integrate with existing Local Government corporate systems.
- e) for the continued legislative exemptions for livestock working dogs in recognition of their special breeding requirements.
- f) for a State Government-led education initiative whereby the community is encouraged to purchase puppies from approved breeders.

RESOLUTION

Moved: Deputy President, Cr Russel Thomson

Seconded: Cr Lynn McLaren

That the Great Southern Country Zone supports the WALGA recommendation for State Council Agenda item 8.2 as contained in the State Council Agenda and as provided above.

CARRIED

8.2.3 Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations Advocacy Position (State Council Agenda Item 8.3)

By Nicole Matthews, Executive Manager Policy and Ian Duncan, Executive Manager Infrastructure

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- The effectiveness, cost and complexity of the regulatory system for native vegetation clearing has been a longstanding concern for Local Governments, particularly in relation to its impacts on the delivery of road and other infrastructure projects.
- WALGA has made numerous representations and submissions to the State Government on this issue.
- WALGA's current <u>advocacy positions</u> relating to the regulation of clearing of native vegetation were endorsed by State Council in 2004 (5.2.1) and 2006 (5.2.2).
- Numerous reviews and significant legislative and policy changes aimed at streamlining regulatory requirements have occurred since that time which has resulted in some improvement, however, problems persist.
- The updated Advocacy Position, seeks to respond to feedback and issues raised by the sector, calls the State Government to:
 - o implement legislative, policy and process changes, including the imposition of statutory timeframes for assessments and appeals; increasing the duration of clearing permits; providing a permanent exemption to enable clearing in previously legally cleared transport corridors; and strengthening environmental data sharing requirements.
 - o allocate **adequate resources** to implement an expedited process for road safety and state and federally funded or co-funded projects; a dedicated Local Government unit to process applications and support the sector; timely compliance and enforcement action; and implement a state-funded collection and provision of data.
 - o undertake bioregional planning and implement strategic solutions for environmental offsets for Local Government.
 - o **reduce duplication** between the State and Australian government regulatory systems.
- At their joint meeting on 24 March, the Environment and Infrastructure Policy Teams recommended that State Council endorse the Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations advocacy position.

ATTACHMENT

- WALGA Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations Issues Paper
- Road Safety Briefing Note

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

This item is to replace existing Advocacy Positions 5.2.1 Environmental Protection Act and 5.2.2 Land Clearing in Road Reserves with a new *Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations* position.

The current Advocacy Positions are as follows:

5.2.1 Environmental Protection Act

Impact on Road Reserves Position Statement. The Local Government sector supports continued advocacy to minimise the impact on road reserves and in regards to Regulations, processing times, access to vegetation data and a Code of Practice on maintenance activities.

5.2.2 Land Clearing in Road Reserves

The Local Government sector supports Schedule 2 of the Environmental Protection (Clearing of Native Vegetation) Regulations 2004 as a permanent exemption for the maintenance of existing transport corridors and supports the continued advocacy for improvements to processing and timelines of the current clearing legislation.

The proposed Advocacy Position is as follows:

Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations

WALGA calls on the Western Australian Government, in consultation with Local Government, to undertake legislative and policy reform to improve the effectiveness, efficiency and transparency of the regulatory system for clearing native vegetation in Western Australia, including:

- 1. Amending the Environmental Protection Act 1986 and associated regulations to remove unnecessary process, complexity and improve timeframes, including:
 - a. introducing statutory timeframes for the determination of referrals, permit applications and appeals
 - b. increasing the default duration of Area and Purpose Permits to 10 years
 - c. provide a permanent exemption for clearing of previously legally cleared transport corridors
 - d. strengthening environmental data sharing requirements to ensure proponents cannot opt-out of sharing data collected for environmental assessment and monitoring purposes.
- 2. Ensuring the regulatory system is adequately resourced to:
 - a. implement an expedited process for clearing permits for projects that prevent death and serious injury (road safety), and state and federally funded or cofunded projects
 - b. establish a dedicated Local Government unit within the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation to:
 - i. case manage Local Government referrals and clearing permit applications
 - ii. provide guidance and training for Local Governments, particularly in relation to roadside vegetation management
 - iii. support partnerships with Local Governments in strategic environmental offsets
 - c. enable timely investigation and enforcement action for illegal clearing
 - d. increase investment in the collection and provision of statewide biodiversity data, including:
 - i. funding and coordinating a state-wide biodiversity survey program to standardise habitat and vegetation mapping
 - ii. making biodiversity data more discoverable, accessible and useable.
- 3. Undertaking bioregional planning for native vegetation management, with a focus on highly cleared areas and implementing strategic solutions for environmental offsets that can be utilised by Local Government.
- 4. Working with the Australian Government to reduce duplication between the Environmental Protection Act 1986 and the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999.

BACKGROUND

Western Australia is one of the most biodiverse places on Earth and has significant regional endemism, meaning it has plants and animals that only live in a particular location (Western Australian Biodiversity Science Institute). Eight of Australia's 15 declared biodiversity hotspots are in WA and the South West Ecoregion, (running from Shark Bay in the northwest to Esperance in south east with a narrow strip along the southeastern coast to the border

between WA and SA) is one of only 34 internationally recognised Global Biodiversity Hotspots (and the only in Australia). A Global Biodiversity Hotspot is defined as a geographical region that has at least 1,500 vascular plant species <u>and</u> has lost at least 70 per cent of its original supporting habitat.

In Western Australia the clearing of native vegetation is primarily regulated under Part V Division 2 of the <u>Environmental Protection Act 1986</u> (EP Act) and <u>Environmental Protection (Clearing of Native Vegetation) Regulations 2004</u> (Regulations). Under section 51C of the EP Act clearing of native vegetation is an offence unless a permit has been granted, or an exemption applies.

The Regulations provide exemptions for routine land management practices, including for clearing done for maintenance in existing, previously legally cleared transport (road and rail) corridors, provided that the previous clearing occurred within the preceding 10 years (Regulation 5, Item 22). Schedule 2, cl. 2 of the Regulations specify the extent of maintenance clearing for an area or purpose:

Area or purpose	Extent of clearing
Crossover area	Clearing to the extent previously cleared for the area.
Lateral clearance area	Complete clearing to the width and height previously
	cleared for that stretch of road or railway.
Maintenance and protection	Clearing to the extent necessary to –
of transport corridor	a) Maintain the efficacy and safety of the
infrastructure	infrastructure;
	b) Protect the infrastructure (for example from fire);
	and
	c) Provide access to the infrastructure to maintain it.
An area that is a public	Clearing to the extent necessary to maintain (but not
roadside facility	extend) the intended use of the area.
Sight line area	Clearing to the extent previously cleared for that area.

Schedule 2, cl. 1 of the Regulations provides the following definitions:

- crossover area means the area occupied by a crossover from a road to a property adjacent to the road and any associated sight line areas;
- lateral clearance area, in relation to a stretch of road or railway, means the area (if any)
 parallel to and immediately adjacent to the stretch of road or railway that is ordinarily
 cleared;
- *public roadside facility* includes a camping area, rest area, information bay, road train assembly area or parking area or a footpath or cycle track in the road reserve;
- *transport corridor infrastructure*, in relation to a stretch of road or railway, includes barriers, signs, guideposts, drains, levies, embankments, gutters, bridges, overpasses and other similar structures or works.

While this exemption does not apply in an environmentally sensitive area, an area that would otherwise be an environmentally sensitive area is not an environmentally sensitive area to the extent it is in a maintenance area of transport corridor.

The Australian Government regulates clearing that is likely to impact a matter of National Environment Significance through the application of Parts 7 - 9 of the *Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (the EPBC Act) and *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Regulations 2000*.

The effectiveness, cost, complexity and timeframes associated with the regulatory system for native vegetation clearing have been a longstanding concern for Local Governments,

particularly in relation to impacts on the delivery of road projects, which make up approximately 60 per cent of Local Government clearing permit applications and 30 per cent of referrals (Dec 2021 – Oct 2024). WALGA has made numerous representations and submissions to the State Government on this issue.

WALGA has three <u>advocacy positions</u> related to native vegetation clearing regulation dating (2004, 2006, 2018). Numerous reviews and significant legislative and policy changes have occurred since that time, aimed at streamlining regulatory requirements, including the Western Australian Offset Policy (2011) and Guideline (2014), the Review of the Western Australian Offsets Framework (2019), the implementation of cost recovery for clearing permit applications (2019), the release of the <u>Native Vegetation Policy for Western Australia</u> in 2022, the <u>Independent (Vogel-McFerran) Review of WA Environmental Approvals Processes and Procedures</u> (2023) and amendments to the <u>Environmental Protection Act 1986 in 2020 and 2024.</u>

As a result of these changes, the exemption for clearing in previously cleared transport corridors increased from 5 to 10 years, a referral process was introduced for low impact clearing and minor scheme amendments no longer require referral to the Environmental Protection Authority.

While these changes have resulted in some improvements, problems persist. This was recognised by the Vogel-McFerran Review, which found that "approvals processes have become overly complex, time-consuming, and costly – holding back economic development without any benefit to the environment".

In 2024, to inform the development of an updated advocacy position on native vegetation clearing regulation, WALGA undertook research and analysis of the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER) and the Office of the Appeals Convenor data, previous submissions and Zone resolutions/feedback and held a sector webinar to inform the development of an <u>Issues Paper</u>. The Paper was considered by the Environment Policy Team and included in the November 2024 Zone meeting Agendas for feedback.

The main themes from the consultations, Zones and issues paper feedback were:

- key challenges faced by the sector related to the complexity of the regulatory system, costs associated with the process and the time taken for assessment and appeals; and
- these challenges can delay critical road and infrastructure projects and impact Local Government's ability to attract and retain grant funding.

COMMENT

A consolidated, updated advocacy position will enable WALGA to comprehensively advocate for members to address the challenges of operating in a complex and costly regulatory environment, whilst balancing the protection of the environment.

The updated Advocacy Position calls on the State Government to:

- Implement legislative, policy and process changes including:
 - the imposition of statutory timeframes for assessments and appeals;
 - o a permanent exemption for clearing in previously legally cleared transport corridors;
 - o increasing the duration of clearing permits; and
 - o strengthening environmental data sharing requirements.
- Allocate **adequate resources** to implement an expedited process for road safety and state and federally funded or co-funded projects; a dedicated Local Government unit

- to process applications and support the sector; timely compliance and enforcement action; and implement a state-funded collection and provision of data.
- Undertake bioregional planning and implement strategic solutions for environmental offsets for Local Government.
- **Reduce duplication** between the State and Australian government regulatory systems.

WALGA RECOMMENDATION

That WALGA replace the following Advocacy Positions:

5.2.1 Environmental Protection Act

5.2.2 Land Clearing in Road Reserves

with an updated Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations Advocacy Position as follows:

WALGA calls on the Western Australian Government, in consultation with Local Government, to undertake legislative and policy reform to improve the effectiveness, efficiency and transparency of the regulatory system for clearing native vegetation in Western Australia, including:

- 1. Amending the Environmental Protection Act 1986 and associated regulations to remove unnecessary process, complexity and improve timeframes, including:
 - a. introducing statutory timeframes for the determination of referrals, permit applications and appeals
 - b. increasing the default duration of Area and Purpose Permits to 10 years
 - c. provide a permanent exemption for clearing of previously legally cleared transport corridors
 - d. strengthening environmental data sharing requirements to ensure proponents cannot opt-out of sharing data collected for environmental assessment and monitoring purposes.
- 2. Ensuring the regulatory system is adequately resourced to:
 - a. implement an expedited process for clearing permits for projects that prevent death and serious injury (road safety), and state and federally funded or co-funded projects
 - b. establish a dedicated Local Government unit within the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation to:
 - i. case manage Local Government referrals and clearing permit applications
 - *ii.* provide guidance and training for Local Governments, particularly in relation to roadside vegetation management
 - iii. support partnerships with Local Governments in strategic environmental offsets
 - c. enable timely investigation and enforcement action for illegal clearing
 - d. increase investment in the collection and provision of statewide biodiversity data, including:
 - i. funding and coordinating a state-wide biodiversity survey program to standardise habitat and vegetation mapping
 - ii. making biodiversity data more discoverable, accessible and useable.
- 3. Undertaking bioregional planning for native vegetation management, with a focus on highly cleared areas and implementing strategic solutions for environmental offsets that can be utilised by Local Government.

4. Working with the Australian Government to reduce duplication between the Environmental Protection Act 1986 and the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999.

RESOLUTION

Moved: Deputy President, Cr Russel Thomson Seconded: Deputy President, Cr Rebecca O'Meehan

That the Great Southern Country Zone support the WALGA recommendation for State Council Agenda item 8.3 as contained in the State Council Agenda and as provided above.

CARRIED

8.2.4 Submission on the State Recovery Arrangements (State Council Agenda Item 8.4)

By Rachel Armstrong, Policy Manager Emergency Management

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- The Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES) is consulting on revised State Recovery Arrangements via <u>Engage WA Emergency Management</u>. Formal consultation closes Friday, 2 May.
- WALGA was granted an extension to enable the draft submission to be included as an Item for Decision in the 7 May State Council Agenda.
- The revised arrangements integrate lessons from past recoveries, current best practices, and clarify roles and responsibilities.
- There are no significant changes to Local Government roles and responsibilities under the *Emergency Management Act 2005* and State Emergency Management Framework.
- The Commonwealth State Disaster Recovery Funding Arrangements Western Australia (DRFA-WA) are not part of the State Emergency Management Framework and are outside the scope of the review.
- WALGA's draft submission was shared with Local Governments and the draft final version incorporates feedback.
- WALGA's submission is generally supportive of the revised State Recovery Arrangements, which provide improved clarity on roles and responsibilities in recovery, particularly for State Government, and clearer arrangements for transitioning from response to recovery and from recovery to business as usual.
- WALGA's submission highlights the need for State Government investment in streamlined, appropriate and effective funding mechanisms for recovery and resilience building, and the need to ensure adequate support to Local Governments.
- The People and Place Policy Team noted the draft submission at its 18 March meeting.

ATTACHMENT

<u>Draft State Recovery Arrangements – WALGA submission</u>

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

WALGA's submission on the State Recovery Arrangements is aligned to the following Advocacy Positions:

8.1 Emergency Management Principles

- 1. The State Government bears fundamental responsibility for emergency management and has the role of providing strategic guidance, support and services for emergency management activities in Western Australia.
- 2. The State Government should provide financial and resourcing support as necessary to enable Local Governments to adequately deliver their extensive emergency management roles and responsibilities under the State Emergency Management Framework.
- 3. The Local Government Sector should be engaged as a partner in policy and legislative reviews that impact Local Government emergency management roles and responsibilities.

8.2 State Emergency Management Framework

Local Governments are supported to undertake their emergency management responsibilities by a simple and streamlined State Emergency Management Framework with the primary objectives of:

- 1. Protecting people, the economy, and the natural environment from disasters;
- 2. Supporting communities in preventing, preparing for, responding to and recovering from emergencies;
- 3. Clearly outlining roles, responsibilities and accountabilities for Local Government and other emergency management stakeholders;
- 4. Scalability and adaptability that supports Local Governments of varied capacity and capability; and
- 5. Supporting agency interoperability through common systems and approaches to key activities including data management, communications, and hazard management.

8.3 Sustainable Grant Funding Model for Emergency Management

Local Government should be empowered to discharge its emergency management responsibilities through sustainable grant funding models that support a shared responsibility and all hazards approach to prevention, preparedness, response and recovery from natural disasters. A sustainable grant funding model for Local Government emergency management:

- 1. Empowers Local Governments to undertake proactive approaches to preparedness, prevention, response and recovery;
- 2. Supports the resilience of local communities through capacity-building activities and programs;
- 3. Is responsive to the variations in Local Government resourcing and context; and
- 4. Develops the skills, capacity and capability of the emergency management workforce; and
- 5. Is consistent, flexible, timely, accessible, scalable, strategic and the guidance provided is comprehensive.

8.11 Local Emergency Management Arrangements (LEMA)

- 1. The State Government should fund the implementation of the Local Emergency Management Arrangements (LEMA) Improvement Plan endorsed by the State Emergency Management Committee (SEMC).
- 2. A reformed LEMA system should:
 - a. Clearly articulate the roles and responsibilities of Local Governments in emergency management;
 - b. Simplify the reporting processes and reduce the administrative burden of maintaining compliance;
 - c. Provide a suite of scalable tools and guidance materials that are accessible through an online knowledge hub;

- d. Build the emergency management capacity and capability of Local Governments through the provision of targeted training, exercising support, human resources and sustainable funding;
- e. Assist Local Governments to continue to deliver their core business activities and provide public information during an emergency event;
- f. Improve the connectivity of Local Governments' various risk management and hazard planning processes through an integrated approach; and
- g. Enable resource sharing and collaboration across the Local Government sector.

5.4.3 Betterment (resilience)

The Local Government sector supports increased funding for the replacement or restoration of damaged assets to a more resilient standard following an event.

BACKGROUND

Since 2020, Western Australia has faced complex recovery challenges from events like Cyclone Seroja, Wooroloo bushfires, and Kimberley floods, necessitating greater State involvement. The review of State Recovery Arrangements aims to integrate lessons from past recoveries, update best practices, and clarify roles.

There are no changes to Local Government's responsibility to manage recovery following an emergency affecting the community in its district as set out in the *Emergency Management Act 2005* (s36b). There are no substantive changes to Local Government roles and responsibilities for recovery under the State Emergency Management Framework.

The proposed changes to the State Recovery Arrangements include:

- introducing four State Strategic Recovery Priorities which are informed by the National Principles for Disaster Recovery in the <u>Australian Disaster Recovery Framework</u>.
- implementing a new four-tiered Model for State Involvement in Recovery where the State's involvement increases with the complexity of the recovery.
- clarifying roles and responsibilities for Local Government, Hazard Management Agencies, State agencies, and support organisations. The improved clarity in State roles in recovery should make it easier for Local Governments to access the support they need to coordinate community-led recovery.
- emphasising greater community engagement in recovery.
- reduced emphasis on an Impact Statement as a trigger for transitioning recovery coordination from the Hazard Management Agency (HMA) to Local or State Government and a new requirement for transition arrangements to be planned/agreed with Local Governments.
- clarifying the requirement for a planned transition from recovery arrangements to 'business-as-usual' service delivery for Local and State Government.

WALGA and Local Governments have been involved in preliminary consultations to support the development of the revised State Recovery Arrangements, including through the State Emergency Management Committee (SEMC), WALGA's Local Government Emergency Management Advisory Group (LGEMAG) and Local Government Focus Groups.

COMMENT

WALGA requested and was granted an extension to enable the draft submission to be included as an Item for Decision in the 7 May State Council Agenda.

WALGA's draft submission incorporates feedback from preliminary consultation, WALGA's advocacy positions, and input from the sector via the Local Emergency Management

Arrangements (LEMA) Review and the 2023 Local Government Emergency Management Survey. This feedback has consistently demonstrated support within the sector for shared responsibility for recovery, with the level and type of support required varying with the size, scale and complexity of the event and Local Government capacity.

Overall, the amended State Recovery Arrangements provide much improved clarity on how responsibility for recovery is to be shared and therefore a better foundation for recovery coordination.

The submission recommends:

- The State Government should develop streamlined, appropriate and effective funding mechanisms to invest in Local Government recovery and resilience building.
- 2. Investment in recovery should not be limited by the eligibility requirements of the DRFA-WA and should meet the recovery requirements of Local Governments and Communities.
- 3. The DRFA-WA must be urgently reviewed to streamline administration, approvals and evidentiary requirements, address the cash-flow impacts of the reimbursement model and enable resilient reconstruction / betterment following a disaster.
- 4. The State Government should invest in effective risk assessment and risk reduction, in addition to ensuring to providing effective and fit for purpose State Recovery Arrangements.

State Strategic Recovery Priorities

5. WALGA supports the proposed four State Strategic Recovery Priorities: 1. Assist people to meet their recovery needs; 2. Enable community-centred recovery; 3. Restore community function and wellbeing; 4. Foster community disaster resilience.

Model for State Involvement in Recovery

- 6. WALGA supports the proposed 4-tier Model for State involvement in Recovery.
- 7. WALGA supports the roles assigned to Local Government under each recovery level (R1-4). The roles and responsibilities are aligned to current roles and responsibilities.
- 8. WALGA supports the roles assigned to State Government under each recovery level (R1-4), which provide improved clarity.

Roles and responsibilities

- 9. WALGA supports the roles and responsibilities allocated to Local Governments in the revised State Recovery arrangements, including section 6.3 of the revised State EM Policy, with minor amendments as outlined in Appendix 1. The roles and responsibilities in the revised arrangements are aligned to current roles and responsibilities.
- 10. WALGA recommends that the revised State Recovery Arrangements clearly reinforce the role of the State Recovery Coordinator to confirm individual Local Government's capacity to undertake their allocated roles and responsibilities during recovery and ensures additional support is provided as required.
- 11. WALGA supports the roles and responsibilities allocated to Hazard Management Agencies and Controlling Agencies in section 6.6 of the revised State EM Policy, which provide improved clarity.
- 12. WALGA supports the roles and responsibilities allocated to State agencies in section 6.7 and Appendix F of the revised State EM Policy, which provide improved clarity.
- 13. The revised State Recovery Arrangements should formalise coordination protocols between Local Governments and State agencies to enable rapid mobilisation of essential workers in disaster impacted communities.

- 14. The revised State Recovery Arrangements should consider inclusion of roles, responsibilities and coordination protocols for essential services, as coordinated restoration of essential services is fundamental to early recovery.
- 15. The revised State Recovery Arrangements should reinforce compliance with data sharing arrangements under 6.1.72 of the EM Act to ensure that State Agencies are sharing information effectively in recovery and include this as a specific function of the State Recovery Coordinator / Controller.

Greater emphasis on engaging community

16. WALGA supports the greater emphasis on engaging communities in planning recovery, and the flexibility in approach so that this can be adapted to meet Local Government and community needs and capacities.

Phases of Recovery

- 17. WALGA supports amendments to the State EM Plan to introduce three phases of recovery: 1) Recovery Planning. 2) Response and Early Recovery. 3) Recovery Operations.
- 18. Considering Phase 3) Recovery Operations:
 - a. The requirements for Local Governments to review and evaluate the Local Operational Recovery Plan should be scalable the Local Government's capacity, and the recovery level and context and supported by simple and effective quidance.
 - b. All monitoring and evaluation requirements for DRFA-WA programs, if applicable, should be coordinated by the State Government.
- 19. Recovery Operations should be supported by pre-prepared State-level Urgent Recovery Programs and surge capacity for implementation.
- 20. Streamlined guidance should be provided for needs assessment, review and evaluation. The approach should be scalable to the Local Government's capacity, and the recovery level and context.

Public Information and Communication

21. WALGA supports nomination of DFES, instead of the State Emergency Public Information Coordinator to coordinate State-level recovery public information and communications. DFES should consult and coordinate with Local Governments on recovery communications.

Transition between response and recovery

- 22. WALGA supports the proposed requirements for a planned transition of recovery coordination by agreement between the Hazard Management Agency and Local Government for R1 and R2 recoveries.
- 23. WALGA supports the proposed requirements for a planned transition of recovery coordination between the Hazard Management Agency and State Government for R3 and R4 recoveries with a written transition plan.

Transition from recovery to 'business-as-usual' service arrangements

24. WALGA supports the proposed requirements for the State to plan the de-escalation of State recovery involvement and transition to 'business as usual' service arrangements. The requirements for a transition plan are clearly described and sufficient, however should be outlined in a written plan.

Requirement for an Impact Statement

25. WALGA supports the requirement that the HMA prepares an Impact Statement in all Level 2 and 3 incidents.

Local Operational Recovery Plans

- 26. WALGA supports the general requirement for a Local Operational Recovery Plan to be prepared for R2, R3 and R4 events.
- 27. The Local Recovery Guideline should be revised to provide better guidance to Local Governments on how to prepare a Local Operational Recovery Plan.
- 28. State Recovery support should be provided to prepare a Local Operational Recovery Plan, if requested by the Local Government.
- 29. WALGA Recommends renaming the Local Operational Recovery Plan to [Event] Recovery Action Plan.

Executive Government Forum

30. WALGA supports provisions to enable strategic oversight and direction for complex recovery issues via referral to an existing cross-government executive forum or a Director General/Chief Executive Officer-level forum.

The People and Place Policy Team noted the draft submission at their 18 March meeting.

WALGA RECOMMENDATION

That State Council endorse the submission to the Department of Fire and Emergency Services on proposed revisions to the State Recovery Arrangements.

RESOLUTION

Moved: President, Cr Michael White

Seconded: Deputy President, Cr Russel Thomson

That the Great Southern Country Zone support the WALGA recommendation for State Council Agenda item 8.4 as contained in the State Council Agenda and as provided above.

CARRIED

8.2.5 Health (Public Buildings) Regulations Consultation (State Council Agenda Item 8.5)

By Coralie Claudio, Senior Policy Advisor, Planning

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- The Department of Health (DoH) is seeking feedback on the <u>Consultation Paper 2025</u>
 <u>Health (Public Buildings) Regulations 1992</u> (Consultation Paper), which examines whether the Regulations should be repealed without replacement.
- Repealing the Regulations is not supported by the sector, as it would impede Local Governments' ability to proactively manage and mitigate public health risks.
- Revised Regulations are supported to provide a contemporary, risk-based approach
 to public building management, eliminating unnecessary building construction
 requirements and incorporating modern compliance and enforcement tools.
- WALGA received an extension of time from DoH to allow the submission to be considered by State Council as part of the May Agenda.

ATTACHMENT

• WALGA's submission on the Health (Public Buildings) Regulations Consultation

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

WALGA's submission is consistent with the following WALGA Advocacy Position

6.6 Building Act and Regulations

Assessments of the effectiveness of building control systems across Australia have recognised that there is diminishing public confidence in the building and construction industry, and that change is required to ensure buildings are safe and perform to expected standards. Now more than ever, the focus is on Local Government building departments to deliver good governance, local leadership and sustainable services that meet the needs of their communities whilst supporting local jobs and economic growth. The Association has the following endorsed positions:

- 1. Support the retention of Local Government as the primary permit authority in Western Australia for decisions made under the Building Act 2011.
- 2. Supports mandatory inspections for all classes of buildings; however, Local Government should not be solely responsible for all mandatory inspections.
- 3. Advocate for the State Government to urgently prioritise legislative reform that addresses systemic failures in the current building control model and to provide clarification on the role of Local Government in building control to ensure building legislation supports the following objectives:
 - a. Quality buildings that are cost efficient.
 - b. Functional, safe and environmentally friendly buildings.
 - c. Good decision making in all aspects of building.
 - d. Efficiency and effectiveness in building management, administration and regulation.
 - e. Openness and accountability with respect to all building matters.
 - f. Recognition of the rights and responsibilities of all parties in building matters in an equitable manner.
- 4. Existing and proposed building control related fees and charges to be cost recovery for Local Government.
- 5. WALGA will work with members, state agencies and industry groups to develop training opportunities and to promote the Local Government building surveying profession to ensure sustainability of Local Government building control services.
- 6. WALGA supports the Australian Building Codes Boards Trajectory for Low Energy Buildings by supporting Local Governments to meet community strategic objectives of a net zero carbon future by 2050 through work with members, state agencies and industry groups.

BACKGROUND

The *Health (Public Buildings) Regulations 1992* (the Regulations) were established to ensure the safety, health, and welfare of people using public buildings in Western Australia. The current definition of a public building is broad, and captures most public areas where people gather for a pre-determined purpose, including for entertainment, sports and recreation, worship and educational purposes.

These Regulations set standards for the construction, maintenance, and operation of public buildings, covering aspects such as occupancy limits, emergency exits, evacuation plans, ventilation, lighting and sanitary facilities. Local Governments play a crucial role in enforcing the Regulations, specifically by conducting routine inspections to ensure ongoing compliance with health and safety standards.

In 2018, the DoH released a Discussion Paper *Managing public health risks in public buildings in Western Australia*, that sought feedback on two options: repealing the

Regulations without replacement or providing new, updated Regulations under the *Public Health Act 2016*.

WALGA's submission at the time supported the latter option as Regulations would continue to allow for the assessment and maintenance of the operational safety of public buildings that would maintain patron safety and provide adequate control and enforcement tools for Local Government officers.

This was the position of DoH when the Consultation Summary Report was published in 2019. The report also noted that the Regulations shouldn't duplicate the construction requirements in building legislation and instead focus on the ongoing management of public health risks associated with the building. No updated Regulations were released.

In February, DoH released the Consultation Paper that re-examined if the Regulations should be repealed without replacement. The paper outlines relevant legislative and regulatory changes since 2019 and further examines the need for Regulations in addition to the WA building legislation and the National Construction Codes (NCC) that set safety standards and protocols for building construction.

COMMENT

WALGA does not support the repealing of the Regulations, as it would impede Local Governments' ability to undertake routine inspections, proactively managing and mitigating public health risks related to public buildings.

WALGA's submission acknowledges that the Regulations are outdated, and they should be reviewed and updated to ensure they are contemporary, fit for purpose and focus on the ongoing management of public buildings, rather than building construction requirements.

Health provisions, specifically the ongoing management of public buildings, are not appropriately placed within building legislation, and the building sector is not adequately trained or resourced to effectively manage ongoing public health risks.

Additionally, the general public health duty under the updated *Public Health Act 2016*, along with other legislation and inspections undertaken by government agencies, does not provide effective management and compliance mechanisms to address public building safety.

WALGA RECOMMENDATION

That WALGA endorse the submission on Health (Public Buildings) Regulations Consultation to the Department of Health.

RESOLUTION

Moved: Deputy President, Cr Rebecca O'Meehan

Seconded: President, Cr Michael White

That the Great Southern Country Zone supports the WALGA recommendation for State Council Agenda item 8.5 as contained in the State Council Agenda and as provided above.

CARRIED

8.3 OTHER STATE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS

Zone Delegates are invited to raise for discussion, questions or decision any of the items in the State Council Agenda, including the items for noting, Policy Team and Committee Reports or the Key Activity Reports.

NOTED.

8.3.1 WALGA State President's Report

Attachment No. 3 WALGA State President's Report

NOTED.

9 EMERGING ISSUES/COLLABORATION

City of Albany

- Opposing State Government proposal for water desalination plant in King George Sound.
- Concern that State Government announced increase of 60 beds to Albany Hospital is insufficient to align with existing demand, let alone future population growth.
- Albany Regional Airport upgrades \$14.6M Growing Regions funding matched by State Government.
 - o Unclear future for Rex Airline as Federal Government funding ceases 30 June.
 - City will need to borrow another \$7M to upgrade runway project is in concept phase with 12-months to completion.

Shire of Broomehill-Tambellup

- Caravan Park development progressing
- Live sheep export ban resulting in many farmers transitioning to grain cropping:
 - Expected substantial increase in truck movements and consequential impact on local road infrastructure asset condition and road safety

Shire of Cranbrook

- Roadworks on time/budget to acquit all funding.
- \$1.786M grant for bridge replacement.
- Storm damage recovery in progress.

Shire of Denmark

- Meeting with Minister Whitby.
- Tourism Strategy Shire / community struggling with volume of visitors road network and safety issues.

Shire of Gnowangerup

- IGA supermarket fire only supermarket out of service
 - o Shire assisting community 80 vulnerable persons per day assisted.
 - o IGA owners are now operating from the Shire's hall.
- Aboriginal engagement forum Shire attended and considered it excellent!
- Wild Gravel event 11 October 2025 growing regional event.

Shire of Katanning

- Pilot NDIS program was very successful providing a new employment platform.
- St Andrews Hostel near end of demolition. Working with State Government and victims to develop a suitable memorial.
- University study hub is open.
- Live sheep export ban shearing teams are shedding employees, increasing local unemployment may result in population loss.
- Shortage of child care workers.

Shire of Kent

- Completed all funded road projects acquittals completed.
- Live sheep export ban impacts:
 - Transition from sheep to cropping, incurs substantial increase in truck / heavy haulage - impact for road network asset condition and road safety
 - o Seasonal employment reduction, less people in town during Jan / Feb
 - o Increased fire hazard more crop stubble, less pasture paddocks.
 - State Government will need to activate rail services to mitigate increased heavy haulage movements.
 - Reduced employment opportunities will impact town populations, economic viability of businesses (noted 1 business already closed) and education services (families leaving).

What is State Government doing to address / fund resolution of these impacts?

When is the Federal Government's transitional funding going to be available to LGs to address impacts?

Shire of Kojonup

- Road maintenance program progressing.
- Fire safety cultural and heritage considerations.
- Annual Electors Meeting highest attendance due to community interest in the future of Hodges Place - recognition Kojonup is a stopover location rather than a destination.
- Livingston Health Services well established and profitable examining requirements for continuing funding.
- Hosted a BBQ for Aboriginal community health well attended and successful.

Shire of Plantagenet

- Serious rainfall event (220m) \$2M estimated damage to LG assets (mainly roads) recovery in progress.
- Live sheep export ban recognising substantial impact as noted by others.
- Swimming Pool redevelopment continuing.
- Potential housing development.

Shire of Ravensthorpe

- Two mine sites have transitioned to 'care and maintenance', with substantial impact on local population and local economy.
 - Shire airport with substantially less flights impact on revenue.
- Wildflower show planning in progress.
- Increase in number of RVs on the roads (tourists), some particularly large RV rigs impact on road networks and safety / caravan park capacity affected as some rigs require 2 sites.

- Increase in people moving to Hopetoun, however still a number of empty mining residences.
- Tourism group established focus on implementing a tourism strategy.
- Shire has leased childcare centre to Read Group.

Shire of Woodanilling

• Wagin / Arthur River fire ran through cropped paddocks - only stopped by lakes, otherwise would have run through the town.

10 OTHER BUSINESS

NIL.

11 NEXT ZONE MEETING

The next meeting of the Great Southern Country Zone will be held Friday, 20 June 2025 at the Shire of Plantagenet commencing at 10am.

12 CLOSURE

There being no further business the Chair declared the meeting closed at 12:10pm.

ATTACHMENT 1

Zone Status Report - April 2025

Back to Item 6.3.1

Agenda Item	Zone Resolution	WALGA Response	Update	WALGA Contact
5 March 2025 State Council Agenda Item 8.1 Climate Change Advocacy Position	The Zone's motion to support the recommendation was defeated and the following comment was noted: The majority of Zone Delegates noted their Local Governments did not have adopted positions on climate change and those delegates considered they did not have a basis by which they could support the proposed WALGA advocacy position.	State Council ALTERNATE MOTION That State Council refer this advocacy item back to the Environment Policy Team for further development. RESOLUTION 003.1/2025 CARRIED	April 2025	Nicole Matthews Executive Manager Policy nmatthews@walga.asn.au 9213 2039
14 February 2025 Zone Agenda Item 7.3.1 WALGA Annual Awards Ceremony	That the Great Southern Country Zone of WALGA formally request that WALGA include the presentation ceremony for the annual awards program as part of the annual convention each year, not a separate stand-alone event. Rationale for this requested change being: a) A reduction in the perceived importance of the Awards; b) Additional costs incurred through attending two events in the metropolitan area; and c) A reduction in the number of attendees.	The 2024 WALGA Awards evening held as a stand-alone event was really successful, with overwhelming feedback that the event highlighted the award recipients better than previously and that most of the responses recommended continuing with the standalone event. The issue of the additional costs is acknowledged. It is believed that the standalone event increased the importance of the awards and numbers at the 2024 event were close to capacity. The 2025 Awards evening has been scheduled for 19 July 2025. The 2025 Awards event will be reviewed, and the Zones feedback is appreciated.	April 2025	Tony Brown Executive Director, Member Services 9213 2051 tbrown@walga.asn.au

Zone Action Items - April 2025

Back to Item 6.3.2

Great Southern Country Zone – ACTION ITEMS						
ZONE MEETING DATE / ITEM	ZONE RESOLUTION	ZONE RESPONSE	STATUS	RESPONSIBLE PERSON		
2024, 22 November 2024 Item 7.3.10 Request to Present – DPLH	That the Great Southern Country Zone supports a representative from the Department of Planning, Lands and Cultural Heritage to attend the April 2025 Zone meeting to discuss the Aboriginal Heritage Survey Program.	At the time of this Agenda being distributed, no response had been received from DPLH. With the recent establishment of the State Government, it is assumed this presentation will be scheduled for a future meeting.	Ongoing	Chantelle O'Brien Governance Support Officer		
2025, 14 February Item 7.2.1 Designated Area Migration Agreement (DAMA)	That the Great Southern Country Zone resolves to: 4. APPROVE proportional return of unspent DAMA Project funds contributed by individual Local Governments, the Great Southern Development Commission and Regional Development Australia Great Southern.	This request has been sent to WALGA's finance team for action. Once completed this will be included in the next Zone meeting financial report.	Complete	Chantelle O'Brien Governance Support Officer		
2025, 14 February Item 7.3.5	 That the Great Southern Country Zone: Notes Operational Procedure 113: Operational Boundaries and Asset Management Responsibilities, Rural Regions. Notes that Local Governments may submit written feedback directly to WALGA for consideration. Provides the following comments on Operational Procedure 113: Operational Boundaries and Asset Maintenance Responsibilities at the Zone Meeting: That this item be referred to the Great Southern Regional Road Group for consideration. 	Submission to Main Roads with the inclusion of collated feedback from the Sector was submitted on 24 March 2025. This submission is <i>attached</i> with the Agenda for your information. Since this is a procedure of high significance to the operations of both Main Roads and Local Governments, it has been rerecommended that any subsequent drafts be referred back to the sector, including Regional Road Groups for further review. WALGA has also suggested the formation of a reference group comprising representation from the Main Roads Regions, LGs, WALGA and IPWEA be established to guide the final outcome.	Complete	Chantelle O'Brien Governance Support Officer		

WALGA President's Report - May 2025

Back to Item 8.3.1

President's Report May 2025

Introduction

As always, I am proud to highlight our continual efforts to use our influence and support our Members through advocacy, expertise and the services provided by WALGA.

One election finished, two more to go in 2025.

In this report, I outline the State election result and touch on the outcomes of WALGA's advocacy, the Federal election strategy, the Aboriginal Engagement Forum, Local Government legislative reform and work in the Renewable Energy area.

State Election

The State Election was held in March and saw the re-election of the Cook Government.

I have written to the Premier, Deputy Premier, Leader of the Opposition and all Ministers to congratulate them on their appointment and seek the opportunity to discuss the sector's priorities for the next term.

I have invited Ministers with a Regional Portfolio to attend Zone meetings where possible.

WALGA's "The West at its Best" State Election Priorities was highly successful with all parties committing to components of the priority requests. The Labor Government's commitments were significant, and a report will be provided in the State Council agenda for this round of meetings.

Federal Election Strategy

WALGA's 2025 Federal Election policy platform is now complete and was provided to the Federal Government and WA Members of Parliament and candidates in February 2025. The Australian Local Government Association will also be running a public campaign to seek additional funding for priority areas for Local Governments.

WALGA's key areas of focus are Community Infrastructure, Coastal Management, Emergency Management, Regional Health, Safer Roads and Telecommunications.

WALGA is seeking meetings with relevant Members of Parliament in coming months to discuss these important priorities.

Aboriginal Engagement Forum

I want to thank those Elected Member and State Councillors who have registered to join us at the Aboriginal Engagement Forum on 9 April and especially mention Cr Barry Winmar and Cr Helen Sadler for their membership of the event Reference Group. I'm delighted to report that we've had a record number of State Councillors, Elected Members, and CEO delegates register this year, which speaks to the importance of this issue and high calibre program.

The afternoon before the Forum, WALGA will hold its first Aboriginal Elected Members Roundtable with 15 Aboriginal Elected Members from across the State. This event will

provide an opportunity for attendees to share their experiences, achievements, challenges and aspirations as a Councillor and to explore how WALGA can assist and support them. I look forward to building on this important work.

Renewable Energy

Work has commenced on the development of a best practice Community Benefits and Engagement Guide to assist Local Governments working with proponents on large scale renewable energy projects. Two workshops have been held with Local Governments, providing them the opportunity to speak about the challenges and opportunities they are facing.

WALGA is also conducting research relating to Local Government rating and payment in lieu of rates in respect to renewable energy projects.

Through this project, consultants have bene engaged to provide advice on current rating provisions available to Local Governments. This includes differential rating and reviewing rating methods from other jurisdictions including Victoria's Payment in Lieu of Rates (PILOR) Scheme.

Letters have also been sent to the Premier and the new Minister for Energy and Decarbonisation; Manufacturing; Skills and TAFE; Pilbara, seeking a meeting to discuss the key issues being faced by Local Governments.

Local Government Legislative Reform

WALGA continues to support members in implementing and preparing for reforms included in the Local Government Amendment Acts of 2023 and 2024.

The requirement to appoint all Committee Members by absolute majority Council decision by 1 July 2025 is now in effect. Preparation is also being made for the anticipated reforms to Audit Risk and Improvement Committee, including the requirement to appoint an independent person as Presiding Member. In addition, Local Governments are required to consider the application of newly introduced caretaker restrictions in their forward planning.

The Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries consultation regarding the publication of CEO KPIs and online registers is open until 8 May. WALGA circulated an Info Page and Discussion paper, seeking feedback on the draft regulations. The results of this consultation, and proposed WALGA submission will be in the State Council agenda to be considered at the April/May round of Zone and State Council meetings.

President Cr Karen Chappel AM JP WALGA President

President's Contacts

The President's contacts since 5 March and scheduled before 7 May are as follows:

State and Commonwealth Government Relations

- Australian Government Black Spot WA Consultative Panel Meeting
- Hon Hannah Beazley MLA, Minister for Local Government; Disability Services; Volunteering Youth; Gascoyne
- State Road Funds to Local Government Advisory Committee Meeting

Zone Meetings

- Kimberley Zone Meeting
- Murchison Country Zone Meeting
- Northern Country Zone Meeting

Local Government Relations

- State Council Meetings
 - o State Council Performance Evaluation Outcome Workshop
 - o Strategic Forum, 5 March
 - o State Council Meeting, 5 March
 - o Governance Policy Team Meeting
 - o Environment Policy Team Meeting
 - o State Council Information Forum, 2 April
 - o Finance & Services Committee Meeting

ALGA

- Executive Meeting
- Local Government Tech Leadership Summit
- o Board Meeting, 13 March

LGIS

- o JLT Management Committee Meeting
- LGIS Board Workshop
- RCAWA Meeting
- Meeting with City of Wanneroo Mayor, Linda Aitken & CEO, Bill Parker
- Meeting with Shire of Augusta Margaret River Shire President, Julia Meldrum & CEO Andrea Selvey

Conferences, Workshops, Public Relations

- WA Women's Hall of Fame Ceremony 2025
- City of Cockburn 100 Years at Memorial Hall
- Great Eastern Country Zone Forum
- Office of the Auditor General IMPACT 2025 Conference
- Aboriginal Elected Members Roundtable
- 2025 WALGA Aboriginal Engagement Forum
- Pathways to Politics for Women